

NEW SOUTH WALES

REDISTRIBUTION OF ELECTORAL DISTRICTS 2021

REDISTRIBUTION PANEL DETERMINATION OF ELECTORAL DISTRICTS

Electoral Districts Redistribution Panel determination of New South Wales electoral districts



Data Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ New South Wales Electoral Commission, 2021

Maps Copyright © Spatial Services (a division of the Department of Customer Service), 2021



Redistribution of electoral districts 2021

Electoral Act 2017 Constitution Act 1902

Redistribution Panel determination of electoral districts

Given to Her Excellency the Governor on 20 August 2021



The Redistribution Panel acknowledges the traditional owners of country throughout New South Wales and their continuing connection to the land, sea and community.

The Panel pays its respect to Elders past and present.

Contents

Snapshot – electoral enrolment statistics	7
Introduction	8
Process and timeframe	8
The legislative framework	8
The Constitution Act 1902	8
Criteria for distributions	8
Alignment with local government boundaries	9
Recommendation for legislative change - commencement of the statutory comments periods	9
Enrolment data, quotient variance and trends	9
Recognised demographer	
Enrolment data	9
Enrolment trends	9
Potential demographic impact of COVID-19	10
Carrying out the redistribution	10
Suggestions and comments phase	10
Draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts	10
Submissions and comments on the draft determination	10
Public hearing	11
The revised determination	12
Variations from quotient	12
Potential for malapportionment under s 28A of the Constitution Act 1902	13
Final determination of names and boundaries of electoral districts in full	13
Key proposals in the determination	13
Far West and Riverina-Murray	13
Central West	13
New England-North West	13
North Coast	14
Hunter	14
Newcastle and Central Coast	14
South Coast and Tablelands	14
Illawarra-Shoalhaven	
Outer Western Sydney	
North Western Sydney	
South Western Sydney	
Middle Western Sydney	
Sydney – Inner and Eastern Districts	
Sydney – Northern Districts	
Sydney – Southern Districts	
Acknowledgments	
Statistical summary of each electoral district	
Constitution of each electoral district	23

Electoral districts

Albury24
Auburn
Badgerys Creek
Ballina27
Balmain
Bankstown
Barwon
Bathurst
Bega32
Blacktown
Blue Mountains
Cabramatta35
Camden
Campbelltown
Canterbury
Castle Hill
Cessnock40
Charlestown41
Clarence42
Coffs Harbour43
Coogee
Cootamundra45
Cronulla46
Davidson47
Drummoyne48
Dubbo
East Hills50
Epping51
Fairfield52
Gosford53
Goulburn54
Granville55
Hawkesbury56
Heathcote57
Heffron58
Holsworthy59
Hornsby60
Keira61
Kellyville
Kiama63
Kogarah64
Lake Macquarie65
Lane Cove

Macquarie Fields	71
Maitland	72
Manly	73
Maroubra	74
Miranda	75
Monaro	76
Mount Druitt	77
Murray	78
Myall Lakes	79
Newcastle	80
Newtown	81
North Shore	82
Northern Tablelands	83
Oatley	84
Orange	85
Oxley	86
Parramatta	87
Penrith	
Pittwater	
Port Macquarie	90
Port Stephens	91
Prospect	92
Riverstone	93
Rockdale	94
Ryde	95
Shellharbour	96
South Coast	97
Strathfield	98
Summer Hill	99
Swansea	100
Sydney	101
Tamworth	102
Terrigal	103
The Entrance	104
Tweed	105
Upper Hunter	106
Vaucluse	107
Wagga Wagga	108
Wahroonga	
Wakehurst	110
Wallsend	111
Willoughby	112
Winston Hills	

Leppington	67
Lismore	68
Liverpool	69
Londonderry	70

Wollondilly	114
Wollongong	
Wyong	

Snapshot – electoral enrolment statistics

Enrolment Summary of 93 Districts	Enrolment 23 March 2020	Projected Enrolment 17 April 2023
Number of electors in NSW	5,318,924	5,509,652
Average number of electors per district (Quotient)	57,193	59,244
Upper limit of quotient per district (+10%)	62,912	65,168
Lower limit of quotient per district (-10%)	51,473	53,319

Introduction

- 1. Under s 27(1)(c) of the <u>Constitution Act 1902</u> (the Constitution Act) a redistribution of electoral boundaries must be carried out after two State General Elections have been conducted using the same electoral boundaries. The purpose of a redistribution of electoral districts is to ensure that, as far as practicable, each electoral district of the New South Wales Legislative Assembly has an equal number of electors (within a margin of allowance of 10 per cent more or less of the average enrolment in electoral districts at a specified future time).
- 2. The last redistribution was completed in 2013 and the State General Elections of 2015 and 2019 were conducted on the electoral boundaries determined at that redistribution. Accordingly, a further redistribution is required before the next State General Election in 2023.
- 3. Under s 20 of the <u>Electoral Act 2017</u> (the Electoral Act), if a distribution of electoral districts is required by the Constitution Act, the Governor is to advise the Electoral Districts Redistribution Panel (the Redistribution Panel) of that fact. The redistribution is then to be carried out by the Redistribution Panel established by s 17 of the Electoral Act. Under s 17, the Redistribution Panel consists of a current or former Judge appointed by the Governor as the Chairperson, the Electoral Commissioner and the Surveyor-General.
- 4. On 11 December 2019, Her Excellency the Governor appointed the Hon Arthur Emmett AO QC as the Chairperson of the Redistribution Panel. Mr John Schmidt, Electoral Commissioner for NSW, and Mrs Narelle Underwood, Surveyor-General of NSW, are the *ex officio* members of the Redistribution Panel.
- 5. The redistribution comes into effect for the March 2023 State General Election. Any State by-elections that take place prior to that election will be conducted on the applicable 2019 electoral district boundaries.

Process and timeframe

6. The process and timeframe for carrying out the redistribution, as specified in Part 3 of the Electoral Act, has been as follows.

1 Jun 2020	Notice published in the Government Gazette inviting written suggestions relating to the distribution of New South Wales into electoral districts, and any comments on such suggestions.
1 Jul 2020	Closing date for suggestions.
2 Jul 2020	Opening date for comments on suggestions.
3 Jul 2020	Suggestions lodged with the Redistribution Panel made available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.
15 Jul 2020	Closing date for comments relating to any suggestions received.
20 Jul 2020	Comments on suggestions lodged with the Redistribution Panel made available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.
Jun-Nov 2020	The Redistribution Panel considered all suggestions and comments lodged, as well as enrolment statistics and community- related factors, to produce the draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts.
9 Nov 2020	Public notice given in the Government Gazette of the Redistribution Panel's draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts inviting written submissions relating to the draft determination, and any comments on such submissions.
9 Dec 2020	Closing date for submissions on the draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts.
11 Dec 2020	Submissions lodged made available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.
10 Dec 2020	Opening date for comments on submissions.
23 Dec 2020	Closing date for comments on submissions on the draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts.
24 Dec 2020	Comments received made available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.
30 April 2021	Public hearing held in Sydney at which oral submissions were made to the Redistribution Panel by one individual and representatives of four registered political parties who had lodged a submission on the draft determination.
May-Jul 2021	The Redistribution Panel prepared a revised determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts, having regard to all submissions and comments received and oral submissions made at any public hearing.
12 July 2021	The Redistribution Panel determined finally the names and boundaries of electoral districts.

The legislative framework

The Constitution Act 1902

- 7. The last redistribution was completed in 2013 and the State General Elections of 2015 and 2019 were conducted on the electoral boundaries determined at that redistribution. The current redistribution is conducted under section 27(1)(c) of the <u>Constitution Act 1902</u>, which requires a redistribution of electoral boundaries after two State General Elections have been conducted using the same electoral boundaries.
- 8. Section 28 of the Constitution Act provides that, upon a distribution of New South Wales into electoral districts, the boundaries of each proposed electoral district shall be so determined that, at the time the distribution is made, the number of persons entitled to vote at a general election of Members of the Legislative Assembly in each proposed electoral district is equal to a quotient from which the number of persons in each electoral district will not vary by more than ten percent (10%).
- 9. This quotient is obtained by dividing the number of persons enrolled at that time to vote at any general election in all the proposed electoral districts by the number of the proposed electoral districts at the time of the distribution, i.e., 93.

Criteria for distributions

- 10. Section 21(1)(a) of the Electoral Act requires the Redistribution Panel to have regard to demographic trends within the State and, as far as practicable, endeavour to ensure on the basis of those trends that, at the relevant future time, the number of electors enrolled in each electoral district will be equal, within an allowable margin of ten percent (10%) of the average enrolment in electoral districts at that future time.
- 11. Pursuant to section 21(2) of the Electoral Act, the 'relevant future time' for the purposes of this redistribution is 17 April 2023, being the date four years from the day of the return of the writs for the 2019 State General Election.

- 12. Section 21(1)(b) of the Electoral Act requires the Redistribution Panel to give due consideration in relation to each electoral district to:
 - (i) the community of interest within the electoral district, including economic, social, and regional interests;
 - (ii) the means of communication and travel within the electoral district;
 - (iii) the physical features and area of the electoral district;
 - (iv) any mountain and other natural boundaries; and
 - (v) the boundaries of the existing electoral districts.

Alignment with local government boundaries

- 13. In addition to the express requirements of section 21 of the Electoral Act, it was a common theme of the last two redistributions, and of much of the suggestions, comments and submissions received by Redistribution Panel, that a Local Government Area (LGA) can be equated to a community of interest.
- 14. Electoral districts in rural and regional NSW tend to be of such a size as to encompass more than one LGA, and dividing LGAs between electoral districts may cause administrative complexities. Therefore, in applying the community of interest criterion the Redistribution Panel considered that giving particular consideration to local government boundaries in rural and regional NSW was a desirable approach.
- 15. Having said this, in Greater Sydney that approach cannot be so readily applied. Unlike electoral districts, LGAs are not based on population. Accordingly, many urban councils with larger populations necessarily extend across more than one electoral district in this determination.

Recommendation for legislative change - commencement of the statutory comments periods

- 16. The current redistribution is the first to have been conducted under the provisions of Part 3 of the Electoral Act. Section 22(2)(b) of the Electoral Act provides that the fourteen-day period for lodging written comments on suggestions commences on the expiry of the suggestion period; section 25(2)(c) makes similar provision in respect of comments lodged on submissions.
- 17. However, sections 22(3) and 25(3) of the Electoral Act respectively require the Redistribution Panel to make a copy of any comments lodged on suggestions or submissions available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website as soon as is reasonably practicable after the expiry of the relevant period.
- 18. The operation of sections 22(2)(b) and 22(3) and sections 25(2)(c) and 25(3) inevitably results in a period in which the relevant comments period commences before there is any reasonable possibility of the Redistribution Panel having all of the suggestions or submissions available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.
- 19. Accordingly, the Redistribution Panel suggests that consideration be given to amending sections 22(2)(b) and 25(2)(c) of the Electoral Act to provide that the fourteen-day period for lodging written comments commences on the day on which suggestions or submissions are made available for public inspection on the Electoral Commission's website.

Enrolment data, quotient variance and trends

Recognised demographer

- 20. In accordance with section 23(2)(a) of the Electoral Act, the Redistribution Panel engaged a demographer, namely I.D. Consulting Pty Ltd (the demographer), to prepare projected enrolment numbers by SA1¹ for the purpose of defining enrolment statistics at the relevant future date.
- 21. In April 2020, the demographer provided the Redistribution Panel with an accompanying narrative, titled *Voter Trends Report*, which highlighted longer-term patterns of enrolment change. A copy of the *Voter Trends Report* is available on the Electoral Commission's <u>website</u>.

Enrolment data

- 22. As at 23 March 2020, five of the 93 existing electoral districts were more than 10% above the quotient. Additionally, a further thirteen electoral districts had variations from the quotient of over 5%.
- 23. The NSW Electoral Commission published the *Current and Projected Enrolment by SA1* data on its website prior to the commencement of the suggestions phase. This dataset provided the current 'snapshot' of persons enrolled in NSW as at 23 March 2020, as well as the projected number of electors at the 'relevant future date' of 17 April 2023.

Enrolment trends

- 24. The Voter Trends Report, referred to above,² summarised the forecasts and highlighted patterns of projected change over a ten-year period from the current enrolment date to 2029. It focused on two components, namely:
 - (i) The growth in electors, with reference to the drivers of the underpinning growth in Estimated Resident Population (ERP) aged 18 and over; and
 - (ii) The difference in elector share between areas that creates a variation between growth in adult (18 and over) population and electors.³
- 25. These projections were used as the basis for calculating the current and projected variance from the statutory quotient of the electoral districts for this determination.

² See par 21.

¹ Statistical Area 1 (SA1) is the smallest unit for the release of data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics' quinquennial *Census of Population and Housing*. Urban SA1s have a population of between 200 and 800 people, with an average population size of approximately 400 people. SA1s in remote and regional areas generally have smaller populations than those in urban areas.

³.id, Voter Trends Report, 28 April 2020, p 8. ERP is the Australian Bureau of Statistics' official 2019 population figure for all LGAs. For areas smaller than LGAs, the ERP is derived from SA1 geographies based on population distribution from the previous census: <u>https://profile.id.com.au/australia/population-estimate</u>

Potential demographic impact of COVID-19

- 26. The Redistribution Panel considered the potential impact of COVID-19 in making the draft determination. The Redistribution Panel noted in the report accompanying the draft determination that it would continue to monitor this issue.
- 27. Accordingly, in May 2021 the Redistribution Panel sought from the demographer an analysis at the NSW metropolitan, regional and SA4 levels of the potential impact of COVID-19 on New South Wales enrolment projections to 2029. The analysis provided by the demographer, *Review of the impacts from COVID-19 on voter forecasts*, is available on the Electoral Commission's website.
- 28. As a result of their analysis, the demographer concludes that the enrolment forecasts on which the Panel's draft determination were based remain valid into the future, despite the impact of COVID-19. The report notes generally as follows:

While it is likely that that the relationship between adult population and voter growth has changed during this period, it is assumed that the underlying voter growth has continued, creating a good match to the existing population forecasts. The SA4 data suggests that the existing population forecasts are tracking relatively well, at least at the broad level in 2021.⁴

29. With respect to the potential for the boundaries set out in the Redistribution Panel's draft determination to trigger malapportionment under s 28A of the Constitution Act,⁵ the demographer concludes that:

...this assessment affirms that the proposed electoral boundaries remain valid into the future, despite the impact of COVID-19. The revised forecasts, including the impact of COVID-19 on population, suggests that three districts (**Heffron**, **Upper Hunter** and **Camden**) may fall outside the 5% quotient. There are already two districts that are forecast to be outside of the quotient in 2023 (**Barwon** and **Cootamundra**). These five potential variations from the quotient in 2023 represent a small share (5.4%) of the total 93 proposed electoral districts.⁶

Carrying out the redistribution

Suggestions and comments phase

- 30. Due to uncertainty caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Redistribution Panel did not commence the redistribution suggestion phase until 1 June 2020. To assist stakeholders in preparing their suggestions prior to commencement of the formal consultation process, the Redistribution Panel gave public notice on 20 April 2020 that the redistribution would be carried out, and encouraged anyone interested to view the current electoral district maps and enrolment data on the NSW Electoral Commission website.
- 31. Forty-one (41) suggestions on electoral districts were lodged with the Redistribution Panel during the initial month-long consultation period in June 2020; in the 14-day comments period which followed, the Panel received ninety (90) comments on these suggestions.
- 32. The suggestions and comments are available on the redistribution website in accordance with section 22(3) of the Electoral Act.

https://elections.nsw.gov.au/redistribution/Make-a-suggestion/Suggestions-on-electoral-districts

https://elections.nsw.gov.au/redistribution/Comments-on-suggestions/Comments-on-suggestions

Draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts

- 33. On 9 November 2020, pursuant to section 25(2) of the Electoral Act, the Redistribution Panel gave notice that the following were available for inspection on the Electoral Commission's website:
 - (i) maps setting out the Redistribution Panel's proposed names and boundaries of electoral districts; and
 - (ii) the Panel's reasons for making the draft determination.
- 34. The key proposals in the draft determination were as follows:
 - The electoral district of Lakemba was abolished.
 - The electoral district of **Leppington** was created.
 - The following five electoral districts were re-named:
 - Badgerys Creek formerly Mulgoa
 - Kellyville formerly Baulkham Hills
 - St lves formerly Davidson
 - Wahroonga formerly Ku-ring-gai
 - Winston Hills formerly Seven Hills.
 - Apart from minor adjustments to district boundaries for improved cadastral (property boundary) alignment, no changes were proposed to the boundaries of the electoral districts of Balmain, Barwon, Bega, Coffs Harbour, Cronulla, Kiama, Pittwater, South Coast, Terrigal and Tweed.
 - In addition, the only changes proposed to the electoral districts of **Orange**, **Port Stephens**, and **Wagga Wagga** were slight boundary adjustments with minimal enrolment transfers.

Submissions and comments on the draft determination

- 35. As required by section 25(2)(b) and 25(2)(c) of the Electoral Act, the Redistribution Panel invited written submissions relating to the draft determination to be lodged no later than 9 December 2020; and any comments on such submissions to be lodged with the Panel no later than 23 December 2020.
- 36. Seventy-seven (77) submissions and eight (8) comments lodged with the Panel were made available for public inspection on the NSW Electoral Commission's website as soon as practicable after the close of the relevant period:

https://www.elections.nsw.gov.au/redistribution/Make-a-submission/Submissions-on-draft-determination and

https://www.elections.nsw.gov.au/redistribution/Comments-on-submissions/Comments-on-submissions-on-proposed-electoral-dist

 5 See pars 60-64 below.

⁶ Review of the impacts from COVID-19 on voter forecasts, p 26.

⁴ Review of the impacts from COVID-19 on voter forecasts, p 18-19.

- 37. No submissions were lodged in respect of the draft determination of boundaries of the following electoral districts:
 - Bathurst
 - Blacktown
 - Blue Mountains
 - Camden
 - Charlestown
 - Clarence
 - Lake Macquarie
 - Lane Cove
 - Maitland
 - Manly
 - Maroubra
 - Newcastle
 - Port Stephens
 - Prospect
 - Riverstone
 - Wagga Wagga or
 - Wallsend.
- 38. One submission was lodged objecting to the draft determination of boundaries in respect of each of the electoral districts of:
 - Albury
 - Ballina
 - Coogee
 - Cronulla
 - Drummoyne
 - Lismore
 - Mount Druitt
 - Shellharbour
 - The Entrance
 - Vaucluse
 - Willoughby
 - Wollondilly and
 - Wyong.
- 39. Two submissions were lodged objecting to the draft determination of boundaries in respect of each of the following electoral districts:
 - Goulburn
 - Monaro
 - Murray and
 - Port Macquarie (other than in respect of Lord Howe Island).
- 40. The Redistribution Panel considers that these figures show a general acceptance of the proposals in the draft determination, especially in respect of rural and regional New South Wales.
- 41. The one exception to this general pattern was that a total of 32 submissions were lodged in opposition to the Redistribution Panel's proposal that Lord Howe Island be transferred from the electoral district of **Port Macquarie** to the electoral district of **Sydney**.
- 42. The Panel considered all submissions and comments lodged. The Redistribution Panel is grateful to all who provided suggestions, submissions

and comments in connection with this redistribution.

Public hearing

- 43. Section 26 of the Electoral Act provides that the Redistribution Panel must hold a public hearing into the submissions and comments lodged in relation to the draft determination unless of the opinion that the matters that were raised in the submissions and comments lodged in relation to the draft determination were raised in the initial round of suggestions and comments, or are substantially the same as those matters.
- 44. The Redistribution Panel accepted that some of the submissions and comments made in relation to the draft determination were not raised in the initial round of suggestions and comments. Accordingly, the Redistribution Panel held a public hearing into the submissions and comments on the draft determination on 30 April 2021 at the Wesley Conference Centre, Pitt Street, Sydney.
- 45. Section 26 provides generally that the Redistribution Panel may regulate the conduct of a public hearing as it considers fit, and guidelines were distributed for the assistance of anyone wishing to participate in or attend the public hearing, either in person or virtually. Pursuant to section 26(3) of the Electoral Act, all individuals and organisations who had lodged written feedback on the draft determination were invited to make oral submissions. While a time limit was not set for oral addresses, participants were required to confine their addresses to matters that were the subject of the submissions and comments lodged in relation to the draft determination.

- 46. At the public hearing, further submissions were made to the Redistribution Panel by the following:
 - Mr Chris Shaw on his own behalf;
 - The Hon John Graham MLC on behalf of The Australian Labor Party (NSW Branch);
 - Mr Seamus Lee, Registered Officer, and Mr Christopher Maltby, Deputy Registered Officer on behalf of The Greens NSW;
 - Mr Joe Lundy, State Director, and Mr Andrew Fraser (Member for Coffs Harbour 1990-2019) on behalf of The NSW Nationals; and
 - Mr Chris Stone, State Director, and Mr Nick Westenberg, Deputy Campaign Director on behalf of The Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division).
- 47. In the course of the public hearing, the Redistribution Panel heard submissions on the names or boundaries of the following electoral districts:
 - Drummoyne Mr Shaw;
 - Kogarah & Oatley Australian Labor Party (NSW Branch) and the Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division);
 - Newtown & Sydney The Greens NSW;
 - **Cessnock & Upper Hunter** The NSW Nationals;
 - Ballina, Lismore, Myall Lakes, Oxley & Port Macquarie The NSW Nationals;
 - Cronulla, Heathcote & Miranda the Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division);
 - Heathcote the Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division);
 - Holsworthy & Liverpool the Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division); and
 - Londonderry & Penrith the Liberal Party of Australia (NSW Division).
- 48. The transcript and video recording of the public hearing was made available on the Electoral Commission's website: <u>https://www.elections.nsw.gov.au/redistribution/About-redistribution/Public-hearing</u>

The revised determination

- 49. Pursuant to section 27 of the Electoral Act, as soon as practicable after the Redistribution Panel has concluded its consideration of any submissions made to it, the Redistribution Panel must consider its draft determination and prepare a revised determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts.
- 50. Section 27(2) provides that if the Redistribution Panel is of the opinion that its revised determination will not be significantly different from the draft determination, the Redistribution Panel is to determine finally the names and boundaries of electoral districts.
- 51. In deciding whether the changes to names and boundaries of electoral districts under consideration would render its revised determination significantly different from the draft determination, the Redistribution Panel took into account matters such as:
 - (i) The number of proposals for change, in the light of the 93 electoral districts to be determined;
 - (ii) The geographic size and spread of any proposed changes;
 - (iii) The number of electors potentially affected by the proposed changes; and
 - (iv) Any material lodged previously with the Redistribution Panel in relation to any individual proposed change.
- 52. Having regard to these criteria, the Redistribution Panel determined that the changes to the names and boundaries of electoral districts agreed upon by the Redistribution Panel in the light of:
 - the submissions lodged on the draft determination;
 - the comments lodged on those submissions; and
 - the further submissions made to the Panel at the public hearing of 30 April 2021,

did not render the Panel's revised determination significantly different from the draft determination of November 2020.

53. There was therefore no need for the further public consultation process set out in section 27(3)–(9) of the Electoral Act to occur, and, accordingly, after receipt of a further report from the demographer, the Redistribution Panel finally determined the names and boundaries of electoral districts as set out herein.

Variations from quotient

- 54. Thirteen of the electoral districts finally determined by the Redistribution Panel have current variations from the quotient of greater than five percent. These are **Barwon** (-5.42), **Cabramatta** (+6.65), **Castle Hill** (+5.91), **Heffron** (-9.46), **Hornsby** (+5.11), **Kellyville** (-7.52), **Leppington** (-9.77), **Londonderry** (-9.77), **Mount Druitt** (+6.27), **Parramatta** (-8.16), **Riverstone** (-9.41), **Sydney** (+5.31) and **Winston Hills** (+7.27).
- 55. As with the draft determination, the Redistribution Panel has set these electoral districts towards the lower and upper ends of the allowable variance from the quotient as appropriate, with a view to balancing the projected variances at the relevant future date.
- 56. Section 21(2) of the Electoral Act also requires that the redistribution process takes into consideration 'relevant future trends', by calculating the projected number of electors at the relevant future time, which is 17 April 2023, i.e., four years after the return of the writs for the 2019 State General Election.
- 57. Of the electoral districts determined by the Redistribution Panel, there are only two that have projected variations from the quotient of more than five percent in 2023, namely **Barwon** at -7.45% and **Cootamundra** at -6.28%.
- 58. Moreover, even on the forecasts reconsidered by the demographer at the SA4 level, it is only suggested that three additional electoral districts have the potential to exceed the quotient by more than plus or minus five percent in 2023, namely **Camden**, **Heffron** and **Upper Hunter**.⁷ If this were to occur, it would still result in only 5.4% of the state's 93 electoral districts being outside of the quotient.
- 59. The full details of the variances from quotient of electoral districts as determined by the Redistribution Panel are listed in the '<u>Statistical summary</u> of each electoral district' table.

⁷ Review of the impacts from COVID-19 on voter forecasts, p 26.

Potential for malapportionment under s 28A of the Constitution Act 1902

60. Under section 28A(1) of the Constitution Act, a distribution of New South Wales into electoral districts must be made 'forthwith after more than one-quarter of the number of electoral districts has been malapportioned for a period of more than 2 months'. For the purposes of section 28A, an electoral district is malapportioned at any particular time:

... if the number of persons then entitled to vote at a general election of Members of the Legislative Assembly in the electoral district differs from the average electoral district enrolment at that time to a greater extent than 5 per cent more or less: s 28A(2).

- 61. In the report accompanying the draft determination, the Redistribution Panel stressed that, under section 21(1)(a) of the Electoral Act, 'the primary determinant of NSW's electoral boundaries is future enrolment projections to give, as far as practicable, effect to the concept of 'one vote one value'. While section 21(1)(b) had to be read as a whole to 'provide an interlocking set of criteria to determine what is a community, rather than considering each element in that provision separately',⁸ the distribution criteria in section 21 are expressly subject to the Panel 'complying with sections 28 and 28A of the Constitution Act'.
- 62. Nonetheless, the report also highlighted that the Redistribution Panel had decided to utilise a larger variance from quotient in certain geographically large rural districts. The expressly limited application of this approach was not intended to suggest that the concept of 'communities of interest' would be relied upon to counter-weigh the need to balance as equally as possible the number of electors in electoral districts across New South Wales more generally.
- 63. The electoral districts as determined by the Redistribution Panel provide robust and definable boundaries and maintain strong communities of interest. The Redistribution Panel is confident that on these boundaries it is highly unlikely that a further redistribution would be triggered as a result of malapportionment.
- 64. Having said that, the Redistribution Panel also notes that, despite being able to make use of the best current technology, determining the boundaries of 93 electoral districts across the state of New South Wales was an extremely challenging process, especially having regard to the considerable geographic variations in the growth or decline of elector numbers. The difficulty in undertaking this task will only increase in the lead up to the next redistribution, which is expected to commence in 2028.

Final determination of names and boundaries of electoral districts in full

- 65. Pursuant to the provisions of s 27(2) of the Electoral Act, the Redistribution Panel has finally determined the names and boundaries of electoral districts as set out below.
- 66. For consistency, the Redistribution Panel has set out its determination with reference to the same regions of New South Wales as were used in the draft determination.
- 67. The constitution of each electoral district is set out in the table that accompanies each electoral district map.

Key proposals in the determination

- 68. The electoral district of Lakemba is abolished.
- 69. The electoral district of Leppington is created.
- 70. The following four electoral districts are re-named:
 - Badgerys Creek formerly Mulgoa;
 - Kellyville formerly Baulkham Hills;
 - Wahroonga formerly Ku-ring-gai; and
 - Winston Hills formerly Seven Hills.

Far West and Riverina-Murray

- 71. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral district of **Barwon**.
- 72. In accordance with its approach to making electoral district and LGA boundaries contiguous where possible in rural and regional NSW, the Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer that part of Murrumbidgee LGA currently within the electoral district of **Albury** (the former Jerilderie Shire Council) to the electoral district of **Murray**.
- 73. Similarly, the Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer that part of Hilltops LGA currently in the electoral district of **Goulburn** (Boorowa and surrounds the former Boorowa Council) into the electoral district of **Cootamundra**.
- 74. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make only minimal adjustment to the boundaries of the electoral district of **Wagga Wagga**.

Central West

- 75. The Redistribution Panel has determined to move the northern boundary of the electoral district of **Bathurst** further northwards into the electoral district of **Upper Hunter**, to include the localities of Bylong, Coxs Creek, Lee Creek, Nullo Mountain and surrounds.
- 76. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Dubbo** the localities of Cooks Gap, Ulan and Wollar, plus the surrounding localities, from the electoral district of **Upper Hunter**.
- 77. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make slight adjustments only to the boundaries of the electoral district of **Orange**.

New England-North West

- 78. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Northern Tablelands** all of Walcha LGA from the electoral district of **Tamworth**.
- 79. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Tamworth** all of the Liverpool Plains LGA from the electoral district of **Upper Hunter**.

⁸ Report of the Electoral Districts Redistribution Panel on the draft determination of the names and boundaries of electoral districts of New South Wales, par 28.

North Coast

- 80. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer the localities of Eureka, Federal, Goonengerry and Huonbrook, and part of the locality of Wilsons Creek and surrounds from the electoral district of **Ballina** to the electoral district of **Lismore**.
- 81. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral district of **Coffs Harbour**.
- 82. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer part of the locality of North Woodburn from the electoral district of **Lismore** to the electoral district of **Clarence**.
- 83. The Redistribution Panel has determined to realign a small section of the boundary between the electoral districts of **Myall Lakes** and **Upper Hunter** to follow Belbora Creek Road at the northern end of the locality of Belbora.
- 84. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Port Macquarie**:
 - (i) Transfer the localities of Lansdowne and Upper Lansdowne to the electoral district of Myall Lakes; and
 - (ii) Transfer the localities of Blackmans Point, King Creek, Telegraph Point and The Hatch to the electoral district of Oxley.
- 85. The Redistribution Panel has determined to retain Lord Howe Island within the electoral district of **Port Macquarie**, rather than transfer it to the electoral district of **Sydney**.
- 86. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make only slight adjustments to the boundaries of the electoral district of **Tweed**.

Hunter

- 87. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer into the electoral district of **Upper Hunter** from the electoral district of **Cessnock**:
 - (i) the localities of Broke, Howes Valley, Milbrodale, Mount Thorley and surrounds; and
 - (ii) the suburb of East Branxton and part of the suburb of Branxton.
- 88. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Upper Hunter** all that part of Maitland LGA north of the Hunter River, from the electoral district of **Maitland**.
- 89. The Redistribution Panel has determined to realign a small section of the boundary between the electoral districts of **Myall Lakes** and **Upper Hunter** to follow Belbora Creek Road at the northern end of the locality of Belbora.
- 90. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make a minor adjustment to the boundary between the electoral districts of **Port Stephens** and **Upper Hunter** at the locality of Glen Oak.

Newcastle and Central Coast

- 91. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Charlestown**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Redhead to the electoral district of Swansea;
 - (ii) Transfer the remainder of the suburb of Cardiff Heights and part of the suburbs of Cardiff and Garden Suburb to the electoral district of **Wallsend**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Cardiff South, and part of the suburbs of Cardiff and Warners Bay from the electoral district of Lake Macquarie.
- 92. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following boundary adjustments at the suburb of New Lambton:
 - (i) Transfer to the electoral district of Charlestown part of the suburb from each of the electoral districts of Newcastle and Wallsend; and
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb from the electoral district of **Newcastle** to the electoral district of **Wallsend**.⁹
- 93. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer the suburb of Cardiff South, and part of the suburbs of Cardiff and Warners Bay to the electoral district of **Charlestown** from the electoral district of **Lake Macquarie**.
- 94. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Gosford** the remainder of the suburbs of Kulnura and Central Mangrove from the electoral district of **Wyong**; and to adjust the boundary with the electoral district of **Pittwater** in Broken Bay to align with the hydro line or the LGA boundary, as appropriate.
- 95. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral district of Terrigal.
- 96. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **The Entrance** the remainder of the suburb of Berkeley Vale from the electoral district of **Wyong**.

South Coast and Tablelands

- 97. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral districts of Bega, Kiama and South Coast.
- 98. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer part of Hilltops LGA (Boorowa and surrounds the former Boorowa Council) from the electoral district of **Goulburn** to the electoral district of **Goulburn** to the electoral district of **Goulburn**.
- 99. The Redistribution Panel has determined to retain the whole of the Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional LGA within the electoral district of **Monaro**, rather than transfer part of this LGA (namely the localities of Collector, Currawang, Tarago, and part of Lake George) to the electoral district of

Goulburn, as was proposed in the draft determination. The Redistribution Panel has therefore determined to make no changes to the electoral district of **Monaro**.

Illawarra-Shoalhaven

100. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Heathcote:

- (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Bangor and Menai to the electoral district of Holsworthy;
- (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Bangor and Menai to the electoral district of Miranda;
- (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Austinmer, Coledale and Thirroul, and part of the suburb of Bulli from the electoral district of Keira; and
- (iv) Transfer part of the suburb of Kirrawee from the electoral district of Miranda.

⁹ McDonald Jones Stadium and the Newcastle Harness Racing Club remain located in the electoral district of Newcastle.

- 101. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Keira:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Austinmer, Coledale and Thirroul, and part of the suburb of Bulli to the electoral district of **Heathcote**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of East Corrimal to the electoral district of Wollongong;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Cordeaux, Dombarton and Kembla Grange, and part of the suburb of Avon from the electoral district of **Shellharbour**; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Cordeaux Heights and part of the suburbs of Farmborough Heights, Kembla Heights, Mount Kembla and Unanderra from the electoral district of **Wollongong**.
- 102. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer from the electoral district of **Shellharbour** the suburbs of Brownsville and Kanahooka to the electoral district of **Wollongong**.

Outer Western Sydney

- 103. The Redistribution Panel has determined that the suburbs of Glenbrook and Lapstone be transferred to the electoral district of **Blue Mountains** from the electoral district of **Penrith**, such that the boundaries of the electoral district of **Blue Mountains** and the Blue Mountains LGA are contiguous.
- 104. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Londonderry:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Whalan, Tregear and Willmot and part of the suburbs of Emerton, Lethbridge Park, Mount Druitt and Shalvey to the electoral district of **Mount Druitt**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Werrington Downs and part of the suburbs of Cambridge Park and Castlereagh to the electoral district of **Penrith**;
 - (iii) Transfer the remainder of the suburbs of Caddens and Werrington, and part of the suburbs of Castlereagh, Cranebrook and Kingswood from the electoral district of **Penrith**; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Angus and part of the suburbs of Marsden Park, Schofields and Vineyard from the electoral district of **Riverstone**.
- 105. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Penrith**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Glenbrook and Lapstone to the electoral district of **Blue Mountains**
 - (ii) Transfer the remainder of the suburbs of Caddens and Werrington and part of the suburbs of Castlereagh, Cranebrook and Kingswood to the electoral district of **Londonderry**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Werrington Downs and part of the suburbs of Cambridge Park and Castlereagh from the electoral district of **Londonderry**.

North Western Sydney

- 106. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Castle Hill**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Box Hill, Gables and Nelson, part of the suburb of Rouse Hill, and the remainder of the suburb of Maraylya to the electoral district of **Hawkesbury**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Beaumont Hills, Kellyville and North Kellyville, and part of the suburbs of Castle Hill and Rouse Hill to the electoral district of Kellyville (formerly Baulkham Hills);
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Baulkham Hills, Castle Hill and West Pennant Hills from the former electoral district of Baulkham Hills;
 - (iv) Transfer part of the suburb of Castle Hill from the electoral district of Epping; and
 - (v) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kenthurst and Middle Dural from the electoral district of **Hawkesbury**.
- 107. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Hawkesbury**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kenthurst and Middle Dural to the electoral district of **Castle Hill**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Canoelands, Forest Glen, Laughtondale and Singletons Mill, and part of the suburbs of Glenorie, Middle Dural, Maroota and Wisemans Ferry to the electoral district of **Hornsby**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Box Hill, Gables and Nelson, part of the suburb of Rouse Hill, and the remainder of the suburb of Maraylya from the electoral district of **Castle Hill**.
- 108. The Redistribution Panel has determined to rename the electoral district of **Baulkham Hills** as **Kellyville**.
- 109. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Kellyville:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Baulkham Hills, Castle Hill and West Pennant Hills to the electoral district of Castle Hill;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Carlingford and North Rocks to the electoral district of **Epping**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Beaumont Hills, Kellyville and North Kellyville, and part of the suburbs of Castle Hill and Rouse Hill from the electoral district of **Castle Hill**.
- 110. The Redistribution Panel has determined that the boundary between the electoral districts of **Hawkesbury** and **Kellyville** will follow Second Ponds Creek and Caddies Creek at the suburb of Rouse Hill, rather than Annangrove Road.
- 111. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer from the electoral district of **Riverstone**:
 - (i) The suburb of Angus and part of the suburbs of Marsden Park, Schofields and Vineyard to the electoral district of Londonderry; and
 - (ii) The suburb of Glenwood to the electoral district of Winston Hills (formerly Seven Hills).

South Western Sydney

- 112. The Redistribution Panel has determined to create a new electoral district in South Western Sydney, to be named Leppington.
- 113. The electoral district of Leppington shall consist of the following:
 - (i) The suburb of Middleton Grange and part of the suburbs of Austral, Cecil Hills, Cecil Park, Kemps Creek and West Hoxton from the electoral district of **Badgerys Creek** (formerly **Mulgoa**);
 - (ii) The suburb of Rossmore and part of the suburbs of Austral, Catherine Field, Leppington, and West Hoxton from the electoral district of **Camden**;
 - (iii) Part of the suburb of Eagle Vale from the electoral district of Campbelltown;
 - (iv) Part of the suburb of Prestons from the electoral district of Holsworthy;
 - (v) The suburbs of Carnes Hill and Horningsea Park, and part of the suburbs of Hinchinbrook, Hoxton Park and West Hoxton from the electoral district of **Liverpool**; and
 - (vi) The suburbs of Eschol Park, Kearns, Raby and Varroville and part of the suburbs of Denham Court, Eagle Vale, and Leppington from the electoral district of **Macquarie Fields**.
- 114. The Redistribution Panel has determined to rename the electoral district of **Mulgoa** as **Badgerys Creek**.
- 115. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Badgerys Creek**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Abbotsbury to the electoral district of Cabramatta;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Middleton Grange, and part of the suburbs of part of the suburbs of Austral, Cecil Hills, Cecil Park, Kemps Creek and West Hoxton to the electoral district of **Leppington**;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Elizabeth Hills and Len Waters Estate and part of the suburb of Cecil Hills to the electoral district of Liverpool; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburbs of Bringelly, Greendale, and part of the suburbs of Badgerys Creek, Catherine Field, Cobbitty, Luddenham, Oran Park and Wallacia from the electoral district of **Camden**.¹⁰
- 116. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer from the electoral district of Camden:
 - (i) The suburbs of Bringelly, Greendale, Oran Park and part of the suburbs of Badgerys Creek, Catherine Field, Cobbitty, Luddenham and Wallacia to the electoral district of **Badgerys Creek**;
 - (ii) The suburb of Rossmore and part of the suburbs of Austral, Catherine Field, Leppington and West Hoxton to the electoral district of **Leppington**; and
 - (iii) Part of the suburb of Gregory Hills (grounds of St Gregory's College, Gregory Hills) to the electoral district of Campbelltown.
- 117. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Campbelltown:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Eagle Vale to the electoral district of Leppington;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kentlyn and Leumeah from the electoral district of Macquarie Fields; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Appin and part of the suburb of Cataract from the electoral district of **Wollondilly**.
- 118. The Redistribution Panel has determined to retain the boundary between the electoral districts of **Camden** and **Campbelltown** through the Australian Botanic Garden.
- 119. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Holsworthy:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Prestons to the electoral district of **Leppington**;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb of Casula to the electoral district of Macquarie Fields;
 - (iii) Transfer parts of the suburbs of Bangor and Menai from the electoral district of Heathcote;
 - (iv) Transfer part of the suburb of Alfords Point from the electoral district of Miranda; and
 - (v) Transfer part of the suburb of Liverpool from the electoral district of Liverpool.
- 120. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Macquarie Fields:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kentlyn and Leumeah to the electoral district of Campbelltown;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Denham Court, Eagle Vale, Eschol Park, Kearns, Raby and Varroville to the electoral district of Leppington; and
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburb of Casula from the electoral district of Holsworthy.
- 121. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer from the electoral district of **Wollondilly** the suburb of Appin and part of the suburb of Cataract to the electoral district of **Campbelltown**.

Middle Western Sydney

122. The Redistribution Panel has determined to abolish the electoral district of Lakemba, and subsume much of it into a redrawn electoral district of Bankstown.

- 123. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Bankstown**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Chullora, Greenacre, Mount Lewis, and Punchbowl, and part of the suburbs of Bankstown, Beverly Hills, Narwee, Riverwood, Roselands, Wiley Park and Yagoona from the abolished electoral district of **Lakemba**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Birrong, Potts Hill and Sefton, and parts of the suburbs of Bass Hill, Chester Hill, Regents Park and Yagoona to the electoral district of **Auburn**;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Yagoona, Bass Hill and Bankstown to the electoral district of East Hills;
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Lansdowne and part of the suburbs of Bass Hill, Chester Hill, Georges Hall and Villawood to the electoral district of **Fairfield**; and
 - (v) Transfer part of the suburbs of Beverly Hills, Narwee and Riverwood Hills to the electoral district of **Oatley**.

¹⁰ Part of the suburb of Oran Park is retained in the electoral district of **Badgerys Creek** rather than being transferred it to the electoral district of **Leppington**, as was proposed in the draft determination.

- 124. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Auburn:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Chester Hill, Guildford, Merrylands and South Granville to the electoral district of Granville;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Newington, Silverwater, Sydney Olympic Park and Wentworth Point, and part of the suburb of Lidcombe to the electoral district of **Parramatta**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Birrong, Potts Hill and Sefton, and parts of the suburbs of Bass Hill, Chester Hill, Regents Park and Yagoona from the electoral district of **Bankstown**.
- 125. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Blacktown**:¹¹
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Seven Hills and part of the suburbs of Blacktown and Lalor Park to the electoral district of **Winston Hills** (formerly **Seven Hills**);
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Colebee, Dean Park, Glendenning and Rooty Hill from the electoral district of Mount Druitt; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Arndell Park and Huntingwood, and part of the suburbs of Blacktown, Bungarribee and Eastern Creek from the electoral district of **Prospect**.
- 126. The Redistribution Panel has determined that the boundary between the electoral districts of **Blacktown** and **Mount Druitt** is moved from Wallgrove Rd to the M7 motorway at the southern end of these electoral districts.
- 127. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Cabramatta:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Bonnyrigg Heights and parts of the suburbs of Bonnyrigg and Mt Pritchard to the electoral district of Liverpool;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb of Abbotsbury from the electoral district of Badgerys Creek (formerly Mulgoa);
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburb of Canley Vale from the electoral district of Fairfield; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Bossley Park from the electoral district of Prospect.
- 128. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **East Hills** part of the suburbs of Bankstown, Bass Hill and Yagoona from the electoral district of **Bankstown**.
- 129. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Fairfield**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Canley Vale to the electoral district of Cabramatta;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Guildford West and Woodpark and part of the suburbs of Guildford, Smithfield and Yennora to the electoral district of **Granville**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Lansdowne and part of the suburbs of Bass Hill, Chester Hill, Georges Hall and Villawood from the electoral district of **Bankstown**.
- 130. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Granville:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Chester Hill, Guildford, Merrylands and South Granville to the electoral district of Auburn;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Clyde, and parts of the suburbs of Granville, Mays Hill and Parramatta to the electoral district of **Parramatta**;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Greystanes, South Wentworthville and Wentworthville to the electoral district of Prospect; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburbs of Guildford West and Woodpark and part of the suburbs of Guildford, Smithfield and Yennora from the electoral district of **Fairfield**.
- 131. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Liverpool:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Liverpool to the electoral district of Holsworthy;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Carnes Hill and Horningsea Park and part of the suburbs of Hinchinbrook, Hoxton Park and West Hoxton to the electoral district of Leppington;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Cecil Hills, Elizabeth Hills and Len Waters Estate from the electoral district of Badgerys Creek; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Bonnyrigg Heights and part of the suburbs of Bonnyrigg and Mount Pritchard from the electoral district of Cabramatta.
- 132. The Redistribution Panel has determined the following changes to the electoral district of **Mount Druitt**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Colebee, Dean Park and Glendenning, and part of the suburb of Rooty Hill to the electoral district of **Blacktown**; and
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Tregear, Whalan and Willmot and part of the suburbs of Emerton, Lethbridge Park, Mount Druitt and Shalvey from the electoral district of **Londonderry**.
- 133. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Parramatta:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Dundas Valley, Oatlands and Telopea, and part of the suburbs of Carlingford, Dundas, North Parramatta and North Rocks to the electoral district of **Epping**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Newington, Silverwater, Sydney Olympic Park and Wentworth Point, and part of the suburb of Lidcombe from the electoral district of **Auburn**;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Clyde, and parts of the suburbs of Granville, Mays Hill and Parramatta from the electoral district of Granville; and
 - - (iv) Transfer part of the suburb of Westmead from the electoral district of **Winston Hills** (formerly **Seven Hills**).
- 134. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Prospect**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburbs of Arndell Park and Huntingwood, and part of the suburbs of Blacktown, Bungarribee and Eastern Creek to the electoral district of **Blacktown**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Bossley Park to the electoral district of **Cabramatta**;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Greystanes, South Wentworthville and Wentworthville from the electoral district of Granville; and
 - (iv) Transfer part of the suburbs of Seven Hills and Toongabbie from the electoral district of Winston Hills (formerly Seven Hills).

¹¹ The Redistribution Panel previously noted that six new suburbs in the Blacktown LGA had been gazetted too close to the publication of the draft determination to be taken into consideration at that time. The Redistribution Panel has had the opportunity to take these new suburbs into account in its final determination of names and boundaries in Middle Western Sydney.

- 135. The Redistribution Panel has determined to rename the electoral district of Seven Hills as Winston Hills.
- 136. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Winston Hills:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Westmead to the electoral district of **Parramatta**;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Seven Hills and Toongabbie to the electoral district of Prospect;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Blacktown, Lalor Park, and Seven Hills from the electoral district of Blacktown; and
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Glenwood from the electoral district of **Riverstone**.

Sydney – Inner and Eastern Districts

- 137. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral district of Balmain.
- 138. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Coogee**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of South Coogee to the electoral district of Maroubra; and
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kensington, Kingsford and Randwick from the electoral district of **Heffron**, using Anzac Parade as the electoral district boundary.
- 139. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Drummoyne** the suburb of North Strathfield and part of the suburbs of Concord West and Homebush from the electoral district of **Strathfield**.
- 140. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Heffron:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Kensington, Kingsford and Randwick to the electoral district of **Coogee**, using Anzac Parade as the boundary;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Erskineville and part of the suburb of Alexandria to the electoral district of **Newtown**;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Centennial Park and Moore Park to the electoral district of Sydney; and
 - (iv) Transfer part of the suburb of Waterloo from the electoral district of Newtown.
- 141. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Maroubra** part of the suburb of South Coogee from the electoral district of **Coogee**.
- 142. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Newtown**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Waterloo to the electoral district of Heffron;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Surry Hills to the electoral district of Sydney;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Erskineville and part of the suburb of Alexandria from the electoral district of Heffron;
 - (iv) Transfer the suburb of Lewisham and part of the suburb of Petersham from the electoral district of Summer Hill; and
 - (v) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Newtown** and **Summer Hill** at Malthouse Way, Lewisham, so as to align with the Sydney Light Rail line.
- 143. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Strathfield**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of North Strathfield and part of the suburbs of Concord West and Homebush to the electoral district of Drummoyne;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Belfield and Campsie from the electoral district of Canterbury; and
 - (iii) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Canterbury** and **Strathfield** at the suburb of Campsie, to retain the whole of the Campsie town centre within the electoral district of **Canterbury**.
- 144. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Summer Hill:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Lewisham and part of the suburb of Petersham to the electoral district of **Newtown**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Hurlstone Park and part of the suburb of Ashbury from the electoral district of Canterbury; and
 - (iii) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Newtown** and **Summer Hill** at Malthouse Way, Lewisham, so as to align with the Sydney Light Rail line.
- 145. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Sydney:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Edgecliff and Woollahra to the electoral district of Vaucluse;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburbs of Centennial Park and Moore Park from the electoral district of Heffron; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Surry Hills from the electoral district of Newtown.
- 146. The Redistribution Panel has determined to retain Lord Howe Island within the electoral district of **Port Macquarie**, rather than transfer it to the electoral district of **Sydney**.
- 147. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer part of the suburbs of Edgecliff and Woollahra to the electoral district of **Vaucluse** from the electoral district of **Svdnev**.

Sydney – Northern Districts

- 148. The Redistribution Panel has determined to retain the name **Davidson** rather than the Panel's proposed electoral district name of **St Ives**.
- 149. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Davidson**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Belrose, Forestville, Ingleside, Oxford Falls and Terrey Hills to the electoral district of **Wakehurst**;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Castle Cove to the electoral district of **Willoughby**; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of North Turramurra and part of the suburbs of Gordon, Killara and Turramurra from the electoral district of **Wahroonga** (formerly Ku-ring-gai).

- 150. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Epping**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Castle Hill to the electoral district of Castle Hill;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Cherrybrook and part of the suburbs of Dural, Pennant Hills and West Pennant Hills to the electoral district of Hornsby;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Carlingford, Eastwood and Epping to the electoral district of **Ryde**;
 - (iv) Transfer part of the suburbs of Carlingford and North Rocks from the electoral district of Kellyville;
 - (v) Transfer the suburbs of Dundas Valley, Oatlands and Telopea and part of the suburbs of Carlingford, Dundas, North Parramatta and North Rocks from the electoral district of **Parramatta**; and
 - (vi) Transfer part of the suburb of Epping from the electoral district of Ryde.
- 151. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Hornsby:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Westleigh and part of the suburbs of Asquith, Hornsby, Normanhurst, Pennant Hills, Thornleigh, Wahroonga and Waitara to the electoral district of **Wahroonga** (formerly **Ku-ring-gai**);
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Cherrybrook and part of the suburbs of Dural, Pennant Hills and West Pennant Hills from the electoral district of Epping; and
 - (iii) Transfer the suburbs of Canoelands, Forest Glen, Laughtondale and Singletons Mill and part of the suburbs of Glenorie, Maroota, Middle Dural and Wisemans Ferry from the electoral district of **Hawkesbury**.
- 152. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Lane Cove:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Artarmon and St Leonards to the electoral district of Willoughby;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb of North Ryde from the electoral district of Ryde; and
 - (iii) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of Lane Cove and Willoughby, at the suburb of Lane Cove North, in order to include the entire Willoughby LGA in the electoral district of Willoughby.
- 153. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of **Manly** part of the suburbs of Allambie Heights, Dee Why and Manly Vale (namely, the University of NSW Manly Vale Campus) from the electoral district of **Wakehurst**.
- 154. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer the suburb of St Leonards from the electoral district of **North Shore** to the electoral district of **Willoughby**.
- 155. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following minor boundary adjustments to the electoral district of **Pittwater**:
 - (i) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Pittwater** and **Gosford** in Broken Bay to align with the hydro line or the LGA boundary, as appropriate; and
 - (ii) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Pittwater** and **Wakehurst**, to include the whole suburb of Wheeler Heights in the electoral district of **Wakehurst**.
- 156. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Ryde**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Epping to the electoral district of **Epping**;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb of North Ryde to the electoral district of Lane Cove; and
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Carlingford, Eastwood and Epping from the electoral district of **Epping**.
- 157. The Redistribution Panel has determined to rename the electoral district of Ku-ring-gai as Wahroonga.
- 158. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of Wahroonga:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of North Turramurra and part of the suburbs of Gordon, Killara, and Turramurra to the electoral district of Davidson; and
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Westleigh and part of the suburbs of Asquith, Hornsby, Normanhurst, Pennant Hills, Thornleigh, Wahroonga and Waitara from the electoral district of **Hornsby**.
- 159. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Wakehurst**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Belrose, Forestville, Ingleside, Oxford Falls and Terrey Hills from the electoral district of **Davidson**;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Allambie Heights, Dee Why and Manly Vale (namely, the University of NSW Manly Vale Campus) to the electoral district of **Manly**; and
 - (iii) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Pittwater** and **Wakehurst**, to include the whole suburb of Wheeler Heights in the electoral district of **Wakehurst**.
- 160. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Willoughby**:
 - (i) Transfer the suburb of Castle Cove from the electoral district of **Davidson**;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Artarmon and St Leonards from the electoral district of Lane Cove;
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburb of St Leonards from the electoral district of North Shore; and
 - (iv) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of Lane Cove and Willoughby, at the suburb of Lane Cove North, in order to include the

entire Willoughby LGA in the electoral district of Willoughby.

Sydney – Southern Districts

- 161. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Canterbury**:
 - (i) Transfer parts of the suburbs of Belfield and Campsie to the electoral district of Strathfield;
 - (ii) Transfer the suburb of Hurlstone Park and part of the suburb of Ashbury to the electoral district of Summer Hill;
 - (iii) Transfer the suburb of Lakemba and part of the suburbs of Belmore and Wylie Park from the abolished electoral district of Lakemba; and
 - (iv) Adjust the boundary between the electoral districts of **Canterbury** and **Strathfield** at the suburb of Campsie, to retain the whole of the Campsie town centre within the electoral district of **Canterbury**.

- 162. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make no changes to the electoral district of Cronulla.
- 163. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer to the electoral district of Kogarah:
 - (i) Parts of the suburbs of Blakehurst and Kyle Bay from the electoral district of Oatley; and
 - (ii) Part of the suburb of Kogarah Bay from the electoral district of Rockdale.
- 164. The Redistribution Panel has determined to make the following changes to the electoral district of **Miranda**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburb of Kirrawee to the electoral district of Heathcote;
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburb of Alfords Point to the electoral district of Holsworthy; and
 - (iii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Bangor and Menai from the electoral district of **Heathcote**.
- 165. The Redistribution Panel has determined the following changes to the electoral district of **Oatley**:
 - (i) Transfer part of the suburbs of Blakehurst and Kyle Bay to the electoral district of **Kogarah**; and
 - (ii) Transfer part of the suburbs of Beverly Hills, Narwee and Riverwood from the abolished electoral district of Lakemba.
- 166. The Redistribution Panel has determined to transfer part of the suburb of Kogarah Bay from the electoral district of **Rockdale** to the electoral district of **Kogarah**.

Acknowledgments

The Panel particularly thanks the staff of the NSW Electoral Commission - Dr Mel Keenan, Manager, Redistribution Secretariat; Ms Bronwyn Butland, Ms Christine Hansford, Ms Melinda Lee, and Mr Jason Pallott, Data Analytics and Geospatial Services team; and Ms Michelle Dawson, Corporate Communications Advisor. The Panel would also like to thank the staff of the Administrative Spatial Program, Spatial Services, Department of Customer Service, Dr Greg Windsor, Mr Brad Harding, and Mr Torin Jones.



anthur Emmet

The Honourable Arthur Emmett AO QC (Chairperson)



John Schmidt

Mr John Schmidt (Electoral Commissioner)



whinderwood

Mrs Narelle Underwood (Surveyor General)

Electoral Districts Redistribution Panel

17 August 2021

Statistical summary of each electoral district

The table below sets out: the number of electors at the base date (23 March 2020); percentage deviation from the quotient; projected enrolment at the 'relevant future date' (17 April 2023); and projected deviation from the quotient for each electoral district as determined at the 2021 Redistribution of electoral districts.

Name of Electoral District	Number of Electors March 2020	Percentage Above/Below Quotient 2020	Projected Enrolment April 2023	Percentage Above/Below Quotient 2023
Albury	56,925	-0.47	58,930	-0.53
Auburn	58,455	2.21	59,217	-0.04
Badgerys Creek	55,146	-3.58	60,579	2.25
Ballina	57,399	0.36	59,917	1.14
Balmain	57,805	1.07	59,054	-0.32
Bankstown	56,825	-0.64	59,395	0.26
Barwon	54,093	-5.42	54,830	-7.45
Bathurst	57,279	0.15	59,333	0.15
Bega	58,444	2.19	61,214	3.33
Blacktown	57,447	0.44	58,612	-1.07
Blue Mountains	58,984	3.13	59,350	0.18
Cabramatta	60,997	6.65	60,648	2.37
Camden	55,526	-2.91	61,005	2.97
Campbelltown	55,901	-2.26	57,541	-2.87
Canterbury	57,449	0.45	58,754	-0.83
Castle Hill	60,570	5.91	61,155	3.23
Cessnock	56,705	-0.85	60,345	1.86
Charlestown	59,852	4.65	60,641	2.36
Clarence	57,016	-0.31	59,272	0.05
Coffs Harbour	55,449	-3.05	57,541	-2.87
Coogee	58,116	1.61	58,728	-0.87
Cootamundra	55,020	-3.80	55,521	-6.28
Cronulla	57,511	0.56	58,492	-1.27
Davidson	60,040	4.98	59,804	0.95
Drummoyne	57,650	0.80	58,996	-0.42
Dubbo	56,536	-1.15	58,028	-2.05
East Hills	58,874	2.94	59,453	0.35
Epping	57,900	1.24	61,151	3.22
Fairfield	57,900	1.24	58,866	-0.64
Gosford	57,028	-0.29	59,263	0.03
Goulburn	56,128	-1.86	58,323	-1.55
Granville	59,438	3.93	61,148	3.21
Hawkesbury	54,759	-4.26	60,205	1.62
Heathcote	57,540	0.61	58,346	-1.52
Heffron	51,784	-9.46	57,377	-3.15
Holsworthy	56,113	-1.89	57,244	-3.38
Hornsby	60,113	5.11	60,589	2.27
Keira	56,289	-1.58	57,060	-3.69
Kellyville	52,891	-7.52	58,071	-1.98
Kiama	56,298	-1.56	59,363	0.20
Kogarah	58,635	2.52	59,248	0.01
Lake Macquarie	55,592	-2.80	59,097	-0.25
Lane Cove	56,905	-0.50	58,216	-1.73
Leppington	51,604	-9.77	60,268	1.73
Lismore	57,928	1.29	59,754	0.86
Liverpool	58,534	2.35	58,953	-0.49

Name of Electoral District	Number of Electors March 2020	Percentage Above/Below Quotient 2020	Projected Enrolment April 2023	Percentage Above/Below Quotient 2023
Londonderry	51,607	-9.77	57,774	-2.48
Macquarie Fields	54,387	-4.91	58,621	-1.05
Maitland	55,130	-3.61	59,157	-0.15
Manly	59,860	4.66	60,763	2.56
Maroubra	57,793	1.05	58,453	-1.33
Miranda	57,679	0.85	58,626	-1.04
Monaro	57,772	1.01	60,385	1.93
Mount Druitt	60,779	6.27	61,585	3.95
Murray	56,747	-0.78	57,027	-3.74
Myall Lakes	58,556	2.38	61,200	3.30
Newcastle	56,959	-0.41	59,416	0.29
Newtown	58,549	2.37	59,505	0.44
North Shore	55,380	-3.17	57,575	-2.82
Northern Tablelands	57,278	0.15	58,057	-2.00
Oatley	57,360	0.29	57,726	-2.56
Orange	56,897	-0.52	58,955	-0.49
Oxley	59,290	3.67	61,317	3.50
Parramatta	52,524	-8.16	60,168	1.56
Penrith	57,334	0.25	58,400	-1.42
Pittwater	56,325	-1.52	56,912	-3.94
Port Macquarie *	57,662	0.82	60,705	2.47
Port Stephens	56,889	-0.53	58,967	-0.47
Prospect	57,483	0.51	58,324	-1.55
Riverstone	51,810	-9.41	60,259	1.71
Rockdale	55,047	-3.75	57,655	-2.68
Ryde	58,639	2.53	60,592	2.28
Shellharbour	57,971	1.36	60,108	1.46
South Coast	57,524	0.58	60,653	2.38
Strathfield	56,590	-1.05	58,227	-1.72
Summer Hill	56,994	-0.35	58,866	-0.64
Swansea	59,380	3.82	60,846	2.70
Sydney	60,229	5.31	61,788	4.29
Tamworth	58,492	2.27	60,661	2.39
Terrigal	57,511	0.56	58,864	-0.64
The Entrance	58,368	2.05	60,206	1.62
Tweed	57,412	0.38	59,202	-0.07
Upper Hunter	59,694	4.37	61,728	4.19
Vaucluse	58,603	2.47	60,063	1.38
Wagga Wagga	55,533	-2.90	57,343	-3.21
Wahroonga	58,521	2.32	59,117	-0.21
Wakehurst	57,744	0.96	57,947	-2.19
Wallsend	57,970	1.36	59,446	0.34
Willoughby	59,983	4.88	60,599	2.29
Winston Hills	61,349	7.27	61,489	3.79
Wollondilly	56,014	-2.06	58,449	-1.34
Wollongong	56,655	-0.94	58,377	-1.46
Wyong	55,258	-3.38	58,652	-1.00
GRAND TOTAL	5,318,924	0.00	5,509,652	1.00

* includes Lord Howe Island

Constitution of each electoral district

The following tables describe the composition of each of the 93 electoral districts by reference to the sum of electors within the boundaries of existing electoral districts. These enrolment figures are given as at 23 March 2020, being the date as at which enrolment figures were taken for the purposes of this redistribution, and referred to as 'current enrolment 2020'; and as at 17 April 2023, being the 'relevant future time' referred to in section 21(1)(a) of the Electoral Act, and referred to as 'future enrolment 2023'.

The tables include a number of entries with zero enrolments, current or projected. This is because they include areas that are typically non-residential – e.g., parks, industrial zones, or waterways – and therefore have no resident electors. Additionally, the redrawing of electoral districts has resulted in some small area transfers (generally less than 1 sq km) in which a boundary has been re-aligned for improved cartographic representation. These include electoral districts in which a section of the boundary has been redrawn to follow a more definable feature, but has not changed in enrolment terms. These electoral districts will therefore contain a small section of an existing electoral district which includes no electors.

Note that references to unincorporated areas refer to those areas which are not part of any Local Government Area, including the Unincorporated Far West region of NSW and unincorporated waterways.

Albury

District of Albury (16,286.87 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Albury	56,924	58,929
Wagga Wagga ¹²	1	1
Albury Total	56,925	58,930

Parts of the 2013 District of Albury are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Murray	1,105	1,106
Wagga Wagga ¹³	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Albury	37,666	39,325
Federation	9,227	9,431
Greater Hume Shire	7,596	7,735
Snowy Valleys	2,436	2,439
Enrolment Total	56,925	58,930

¹² Part of the locality of Laurel Hill.

¹³ Part of the locality of Buddong.

Auburn

District of Auburn (32.11 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Auburn	36,329	36,697
Bankstown	22,126	22,520
Lakemba ¹⁴	0	0
Auburn Total	58,455	59,217

Parts of the 2013 District of Auburn are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Granville	8,788	8,932
Parramatta	11,157	13,745
Strathfield ¹⁵	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	22,126	22,520
Cumberland	36,329	36,697
Strathfield	0	0
Enrolment Total	58,455	59,217

¹⁴ Part of the suburb of Rookwood.

¹⁵ Part of the suburb of Homebush West.

Badgerys Creek

District of Badgerys Creek (396.01 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	11,850	16,538
Mulgoa	43,296	44,041
Badgerys Creek Total	55,146	60,579

Parts of the 2013 District of Mulgoa are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cabramatta	3,233	3,171
Leppington	5,354	6,866
Liverpool	6,919	6,772
Prospect ¹⁶	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	0	0
Camden	9,398	14,051
City of Fairfield	2,024	2,055
City of Liverpool	2,452	2,487
City of Penrith	41,272	41,986
Enrolment Total	55,146	60,579

¹⁶ Part of the suburb of Horsley Park.

Ballina

District of Ballina (873.91 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Ballina	57,399	59,917
Ballina Total	57,399	59,917

Parts of the 2013 District of Ballina are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lismore	2,018	2,074

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Ballina	33,576	34,931
Byron	23,823	24,986
Enrolment Total	57,399	59,917

Balmain

District of Balmain (16.14 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Balmain	57,805	59,054
Balmain Total	57,805	59,054

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Inner West	41,610	42,288
City of Sydney	16,195	16,766
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	57,805	59,054

Bankstown

District of Bankstown (24.29 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bankstown	17,910	19,322
East Hills	19	23
Lakemba	38,896	40,050
Bankstown Total	56,825	59,395

Parts of the 2013 District of Bankstown are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Auburn	22,126	22,520
East Hills	3,139	3,194
Fairfield	11,599	12,171

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	55,903	58,472
Strathfield	922	923
Enrolment Total	56,825	59,395

Barwon

District of Barwon (356,310.71 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Barwon	54,093	54,830
Barwon Total	54,093	54,830

Parts of the 2013 District of Barwon are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cootamundra17	0	0
Murray18	0	0
Tamworth19	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bogan	1,939	1,967
Bourke	1,772	1,782
Brewarrina	908	940
City of Broken Hill	13,263	13,363
Central Darling	1,016	1,020
Cobar	2,838	2,900
Coonamble	2,685	2,742
Gilgandra	3,105	3,104
Gunnedah	0	0
Lachlan	4,427	4,484
Narrabri	9,201	9,447
UNINCORPORATED FAR WEST	451	450
Walgett	3,705	3,791
Warren	1,964	2,002
Warrumbungle Shire	6,819	6,838
Enrolment Total	54,093	54,830

¹⁷ Part of the locality of Ungarie.

¹⁸ Part of the locality of Mossgie.

¹⁹ Part of the locality of Tambar Springs.

Bathurst

District of Bathurst (16,326.76 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bathurst	57,028	59,080
Dubbo ²⁰	0	0
Upper Hunter	251	253
Bathurst Total	57,279	59,333

Parts of the 2013 District of Bathurst are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Orange ²¹	3	3

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bathurst Regional	29,896	31,398
Blayney	5,358	5,496
City of Lithgow	15,512	15,891
Mid-Western Regional	2,630	2,654
Oberon	3,883	3,894
Enrolment Total	57,279	59,333

²⁰ Part of the locality of Lue; part of the locality of Bara.

²¹ Part of the locality of Spring Terrace.

Bega

District of Bega (9,774.00 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bega	58,444	61,214
Bega Total	58,444	61,214

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bega Valley	27,103	28,194
Eurobodalla	31,341	33,020
Enrolment Total	58,444	61,214

Blacktown

District of Blacktown (47.53 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blacktown	46,504	47,297
Mount Druitt	7,838	8,129
Prospect	3,105	3,186
Blacktown Total	57,447	58,612

Parts of the 2013 District of Blacktown are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Winston Hills	8,904	9,157

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	57,447	58,612
Enrolment Total	57,447	58,612

Blue Mountains

District of Blue Mountains (1,432.11 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blue Mountains	54,385	54,744
Penrith	4,599	4,606
Blue Mountains Total	58,984	59,350

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blue Mountains	58,984	59,350
Enrolment Total	58,984	59,350

Cabramatta

District of Cabramatta (31.58 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cabramatta	45,138	44,990
Fairfield	2,623	2,632
Mulgoa	3,233	3,171
Prospect	10,003	9,855
Cabramatta Total	60,997	60,648

Parts of the 2013 District of Cabramatta are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Liverpool	10,056	9,932

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Fairfield	60,626	60,281
City of Liverpool	371	367
Enrolment Total	60,997	60,648

Camden

District of Camden (107.61 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	55,526	61,005
Macquarie Fields ²²	0	0
Camden Total	55,526	61,005

Parts of the 2013 District of Camden are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Badgerys Creek	11,850	16,538
Campbelltown	26	26
Leppington	7,977	12,777

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	53,928	59,413
City of Campbelltown	0	0
Wollondilly	1,598	1,592
Enrolment Total	55,526	61,005

²² Part of the suburb of Varroville.

Campbelltown

District of Campbelltown (361.63 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	26	26
Campbelltown	50,823	52,171
Macquarie Fields	3,001	2,924
Wollondilly	2,051	2,420
Campbelltown Total	55,901	57,541

Parts of the 2013 District of Campbelltown are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Leppington	3,987	3,980

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	26	26
City of Campbelltown	53,824	55,095
Wollondilly	2,051	2,420
Enrolment Total	55,901	57,541

37

Canterbury

District of Canterbury (20.10 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury	47,559	48,660
Lakemba	9,890	10,094
Canterbury Total	57,449	58,754

Parts of the 2013 District of Canterbury are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Strathfield	6,136	6,181
Summer Hill	3,778	3,695

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	57,449	58,754
Enrolment Total	57,449	58,754

Castle Hill

District of Castle Hill (107.88 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Baulkham Hills	29,344	29,440
Castle Hill	24,778	25,263
Epping	3,908	3,894
Hawkesbury	2,540	2,558
Castle Hill Total	60,570	61,155

Parts of the 2013 District of Castle Hill are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hawkesbury	2,939	7,121
Kellyville	33,387	36,398

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	3,908	3,894
The Hills Shire	56,662	57,261
Enrolment Total	60,570	61,155

39

Cessnock

District of Cessnock (2,019.91 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cessnock	56,705	60,345
Maitland ²³	0	0
Cessnock Total	56,705	60,345

Parts of the 2013 District of Cessnock are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Maitland	11	11
Upper Hunter	2,797	2,874

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Cessnock	41,053	43,868
City of Lake Macquarie	15,594	16,406
City of Maitland	0	0
Singleton	58	71
Enrolment Total	56,705	60,345

²³ Part of the locality of Lochinvar.

Charlestown

District of Charlestown (67.92 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	52,131	52,872
Lake Macquarie	2,949	2,921
Newcastle	1,655	1,687
Wallsend	3,117	3,161
Charlestown Total	59,852	60,641

Parts of the 2013 District of Charlestown are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Swansea	2,777	2,772
Wallsend	757	757

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Lake Macquarie	42,947	43,506
City of Newcastle	16,905	17,135
Enrolment Total	59,852	60,641

41

Clarence

District of Clarence (13,492.86 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Clarence	56,936	59,192
Lismore	80	80
Clarence Total	57,016	59,272

Parts of the 2013 District of Clarence are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Coffs Harbour ²⁴	0	0
Lismore ²⁵	1	1

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Clarence Valley	39,825	41,357
City of Coffs Harbour	9	9
City of Lismore	80	80
Richmond Valley	17,102	17,826
Enrolment Total	57,016	59,272

²⁴ North Solitary Island.

²⁵ Part of the locality of Louisa Creek.

Coffs Harbour

District of Coffs Harbour (1,174.56 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Clarence ²⁶	0	0
Coffs Harbour	55,449	57,541
Coffs Harbour Total	55,449	57,541

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Coffs Harbour	55,449	57,541
Enrolment Total	55,449	57,541

²⁶ North Solitary Island.

Coogee

District of Coogee (14.56 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Coogee	54,081	54,748
Heffron	4,035	3,980
Coogee Total	58,116	58,728

Parts of the 2013 District of Coogee are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Maroubra	729	719

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Randwick	39,290	39,332
Waverley	18,826	19,396
Enrolment Total	58,116	58,728

Cootamundra

District of Cootamundra (37,288.90 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Barwon ²⁷	0	0
Cootamundra	53,064	53,557
Goulburn	1,956	1,964
Wagga Wagga ²⁸	0	0
Cootamundra Total	55,020	55,521

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bland	4,102	4,089
Coolamon	3,177	3,246
Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional	8,490	8,536
Cowra	9,587	9,727
Hilltops	14,102	14,364
Junee	3,926	3,936
Narrandera	4,306	4,292
Temora	4,572	4,581
Weddin	2,758	2,750
Enrolment Total	55,020	55,521

²⁷ Part of the locality of Ungarie.

²⁸ Part of the locality of Brungle.

Cronulla

District of Cronulla (64.41 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cronulla	57,511	58,492
Cronulla Total	57,511	58,492

Parts of the 2013 District of Cronulla are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heathcote ²⁹	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Sutherland Shire	57,511	58,492
Enrolment Total	57,511	58,492

²⁹ Part of the locality of the Royal National Park.

Davidson

District of Davidson (70.27 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Davidson	47,752	47,684
Ku-ring-gai	12,288	12,120
Davidson Total	60,040	59,804

Parts of the 2013 District of Davidson are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Wakehurst	5,445	5,416
Willoughby	1,931	1,925

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Ku-ring-gai	50,172	50,016
Northern Beaches	9,868	9,788
Enrolment Total	60,040	59,804

47

Drummoyne

District of Drummoyne (27.56 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Drummoyne	54,154	55,307
Strathfield	3,496	3,689
Drummoyne Total	57,650	58,996

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canada Bay	56,938	58,223
Strathfield	708	769
UNINCORPORATED	4	4
Enrolment Total	57,650	58,996

Dubbo

District of Dubbo (18,717.99 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Dubbo	55,872	57,360
Upper Hunter	664	668
Dubbo Total	56,536	58,028

Parts of the 2013 District of Dubbo are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bathurst ³⁰	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Dubbo Regional	36,469	37,483
Mid-Western Regional	15,458	15,935
Narromine	4,609	4,610
Enrolment Total	56,536	58,028

 $[\]overline{^{30}}$ Part of the locality of Lue; part of the locality of Bara.

East Hills

District of East Hills (40.91 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bankstown	3,139	3,194
East Hills	55,735	56,259
East Hills Total	58,874	59,453

Parts of the 2013 District of East Hills are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bankstown	19	23

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	58,874	59,453
Enrolment Total	58,874	59,453

Epping

District of Epping (37.12 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Baulkham Hills	7,523	7,441
Epping	29,133	30,825
Parramatta	20,953	22,603
Ryde	291	282
Epping Total	57,900	61,151

Parts of the 2013 District of Epping are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Castle Hill	3,908	3,894
Hornsby	18,060	17,738
Ryde	4,142	4,111

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	10,408	10,257
City of Parramatta	47,075	50,483
The Hills Shire	417	411
Enrolment Total	57,900	61,151

51

Fairfield

District of Fairfield (30.43 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bankstown	11,599	12,171
Fairfield	46,301	46,695
Fairfield Total	57,900	58,866

Parts of the 2013 District of Fairfield are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cabramatta	2,623	2,632
Granville	5,104	5,165

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	11,599	12,171
Cumberland	100	96
City of Fairfield	46,201	46,599
Enrolment Total	57,900	58,866

Gosford

District of Gosford (911.97 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Gosford	56,715	58,949
Wyong	313	314
Gosford Total	57,028	59,263

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Central Coast	57,028	59,263
Enrolment Total	57,028	59,263

53

Goulburn

District of Goulburn (16,248.89 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Goulburn	56,128	58,323
Goulburn Total	56,128	58,323

Parts of the 2013 District of Goulburn are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cootamundra	1,956	1,964

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Goulburn Mulwaree	22,267	23,035
Upper Lachlan Shire	6,260	6,296
Wingecarribee	15,319	15,962
Yass Valley	12,282	13,030
Enrolment Total	56,128	58,323

Granville

District of Granville (28.71 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Auburn	8,788	8,932
Fairfield	5,104	5,165
Granville	45,546	47,051
Granville Total	59,438	61,148

Parts of the 2013 District of Granville are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Parramatta	1,595	2,612
Prospect	6,845	7,179

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cumberland	59,099	60,819
City of Parramatta	339	329
Enrolment Total	59,438	61,148

Hawkesbury

District of Hawkesbury (3,016.53 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Castle Hill	2,939	7,121
Hawkesbury	51,820	53,084
Hawkesbury Total	54,759	60,205

Parts of the 2013 District of Hawkesbury are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Castle Hill	2,540	2,558
Hornsby	1,550	1,535

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Hawkesbury	48,206	49,041
The Hills Shire	6,553	11,164
Enrolment Total	54,759	60,205

Heathcote

District of Heathcote (467.50 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cronulla ³¹	0	0
Heathcote	44,435	45,158
Keira	12,008	12,091
Miranda	1,097	1,097
Heathcote Total	57,540	58,346

Parts of the 2013 District of Heathcote are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Holsworthy	6,421	6,365
Miranda	5,576	5,504

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Sutherland Shire	37,834	38,525
Wollondilly	18	18
City of Wollongong	19,688	19,803
Enrolment Total	57,540	58,346

³¹ Part of the locality of the Royal National Park.

Heffron

District of Heffron (28.70 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heffron	50,858	56,335
Newtown	926	1,042
Heffron Total	51,784	57,377

Parts of the 2013 District of Heffron are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Coogee	4,035	3,980
Newtown	5,032	5,337
Sydney	1,621	1,682

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bayside	15,053	16,303
Inner West	6,037	6,504
City of Randwick	7,389	7,741
City of Sydney	23,305	26,829
Enrolment Total	51,784	57,377

Holsworthy

District of Holsworthy (131.86 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heathcote	6,421	6,365
Holsworthy	44,957	45,257
Liverpool	2,227	3,118
Miranda	2,508	2,504
Holsworthy Total	56,113	57,244

Parts of the 2013 District of Holsworthy are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Leppington	8,288	8,368
Macquarie Fields	3,983	3,987

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Liverpool	43,504	44,655
Sutherland Shire	12,609	12,589
Enrolment Total	56,113	57,244

Hornsby

District of Hornsby (462.16 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Epping	18,060	17,738
Hawkesbury	1,550	1,535
Hornsby	40,503	41,316
Hornsby Total	60,113	60,589

Parts of the 2013 District of Hornsby are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Wahroonga	15,513	15,638

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	60,113	60,589
Enrolment Total	60,113	60,589

Keira

District of Keira (257.93 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Keira	44,556	44,700
Shellharbour	368	1,010
Wollongong	11,365	11,350
Keira Total	56,289	57,060

Parts of the 2013 District of Keira are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heathcote	12,008	12,091
Wollongong	2,504	2,544

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Wollongong	56,289	57,060
Enrolment Total	56,289	57,060

61

Kellyville

District of Kellyville (38.70 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Baulkham Hills	19,504	21,673
Castle Hill	33,387	36,398
Kellyville Total	52,891	58,071

Parts of the 2013 District of Baulkham Hills are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Castle Hill	29,344	29,440
Epping	7,523	7,441

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
The Hills Shire	52,891	58,071
Enrolment Total	52,891	58,071

Kiama

District of Kiama (2,274.57 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kiama	56,298	59,363
Kiama Total	56,298	59,363

Parts of the 2013 District of Kiama are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
South Coast ³²	0	0

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kiama	17,357	17,785
City of Shellharbour	15,509	17,504
City of Shoalhaven	23,305	23,822
City of Wollongong	127	252
Enrolment Total	56,298	59,363

³² Part locality of Jerrawangala

Kogarah

District of Kogarah (21.97 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kogarah	53,419	54,077
Oatley	3,654	3,597
Rockdale	1,562	1,574
Kogarah Total	58,635	59,248

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bayside	19,932	19,940
Georges River	38,703	39,308
Enrolment Total	58,635	59,248

Lake Macquarie

District of Lake Macquarie (528.72 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lake Macquarie	55,592	59,097
Lake Macquarie Total	55,592	59,097

Parts of the 2013 District of Lake Macquarie are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	2,949	2,921

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Lake Macquarie	55,592	59,097
Enrolment Total	55,592	59,097

Lane Cove

District of Lane Cove (36.56 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lane Cove	55,380	56,694
Ryde	1,525	1,522
Lane Cove Total	56,905	58,216

Parts of the 2013 District of Lane Cove are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Willoughby	3,119	3,163

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hunter's Hill	10,001	9,973
Lane Cove	25,098	25,487
City of Ryde	21,805	22,755
UNINCORPORATED	1	1
Enrolment Total	56,905	58,216

Leppington

District of Leppington (127.85 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	7,977	12,777
Campbelltown	3,987	3,980
Holsworthy	8,288	8,368
Liverpool	14,554	14,716
Macquarie Fields	11,444	13,561
Mulgoa	5,354	6,866
Leppington Total	51,604	60,268

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden	5,104	7,523
City of Campbelltown	14,626	16,241
City of Liverpool	31,874	36,504
Enrolment Total	51,604	60,268

Lismore

District of Lismore (13,215.19 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Ballina	2,018	2,074
Clarence ³³	1	1
Lismore	55,909	57,679
Northern Tablelands ³⁴	0	0
Lismore Total	57,928	59,754

Parts of the 2013 District of Lismore are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Clarence	80	80
Northern Tablelands ³⁵	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Byron	2,018	2,074
Clarence Valley	1	1
Glen Innes Severn Shire	0	0
Kyogle	6,865	7,065
City of Lismore	32,553	33,766
Tenterfield	4,908	5,053
Tweed	11,583	11,795
Enrolment Total	57,928	59,754

³³ Part locality of Louisa Creek

³⁴ Part locality of Deepwater

³⁵ Part locality of Deepwater

Liverpool

District of Liverpool (31.73 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cabramatta	10,056	9,932
Liverpool	41,559	42,249
Mulgoa	6,919	6,772
Liverpool Total	58,534	58,953

Parts of the 2013 District of Liverpool are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Holsworthy	2,227	3,118
Leppington	14,554	14,716

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Fairfield	10,056	9,932
City of Liverpool	48,478	49,021
Enrolment Total	58,534	58,953

Londonderry

District of Londonderry (192.69 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Londonderry	48,548	53,557
Penrith	1,912	2,516
Riverstone	1,147	1,701
Londonderry Total	51,607	57,774

Parts of the 2013 District of Londonderry are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Mount Druitt	11,667	11,789
Penrith	6,875	6,819

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	9,108	12,169
City of Penrith	42,499	45,605
Enrolment Total	51,607	57,774

Macquarie Fields

District of Macquarie Fields (68.80 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Holsworthy	3,983	3,987
Macquarie Fields	50,404	54,634
Macquarie Fields Total	54,387	58,621

Parts of the 2013 District of Macquarie Fields are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Camden ³⁶	0	0
Campbelltown	3,001	2,924
Leppington	11,444	13,561

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Campbelltown	41,692	42,959
City of Liverpool	12,695	15,662
Enrolment Total	54,387	58,621

³⁶ Part suburb of Varroville

Maitland

District of Maitland (256.44 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cessnock	11	11
Maitland	55,119	59,146
Maitland Total	55,130	59,157

Parts of the 2013 District of Maitland are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cessnock ³⁷	0	0
Upper Hunter	6,357	6,536
Wallsend ³⁸	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Cessnock	11	11
City of Maitland	55,119	59,146
Enrolment Total	55,130	59,157

³⁷ Part locality of Lochinvar

³⁸ Part locality of Thornton

Manly

District of Manly (32.92 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Manly	55,930	56,715
Wakehurst	3,930	4,048
Manly Total	59,860	60,763

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Northern Beaches	59,859	60,762
UNINCORPORATED	1	1
Enrolment Total	59,860	60,763

73

Maroubra

District of Maroubra (46.87 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Coogee	729	719
Maroubra	57,064	57,734
Maroubra Total	57,793	58,453

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bayside	16,318	16,903
City of Randwick	41,475	41,550
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	57,793	58,453

Miranda

District of Miranda (40.01 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heathcote	5,576	5,504
Miranda	52,103	53,122
Miranda Total	57,679	58,626

Parts of the 2013 District of Miranda are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heathcote	1,097	1,097
Holsworthy	2,508	2,504

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Sutherland Shire	57,679	58,626
Enrolment Total	57,679	58,626

75

Monaro

District of Monaro (20,479.99 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Monaro	57,772	60,385
Monaro Total	57,772	60,385

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional	42,729	44,974
Snowy Monaro Regional	15,043	15,411
Enrolment Total	57,772	60,385

Mount Druitt

District of Mount Druitt (37.59 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Londonderry	11,667	11,789
Mount Druitt	49,112	49,796
Prospect ³⁹	0	0
Mount Druitt Total	60,779	61,585

Parts of the 2013 District of Mount Druitt are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blacktown	7,838	8,129

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	60,779	61,585
Enrolment Total	60,779	61,585

³⁹ Part suburb of Eastern Creek

Murray

District of Murray (110,699.02 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Albury	1,105	1,106
Barwon ⁴⁰	0	0
Murray	55,642	55,921
Murray Total	56,747	57,027

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Balranald	1,412	1,394
Berrigan	5,823	5,854
Carrathool	1,839	1,823
Edward River	6,300	6,267
City of Griffith	16,750	16,904
Нау	2,087	2,061
Leeton	7,662	7,749
Murray River	8,130	8,227
Murrumbidgee	2,616	2,609
Wentworth	4,128	4,139
Enrolment Total	56,747	57,027

⁴⁰ Part locality of Mossgiel

Myall Lakes

District of Myall Lakes (5,180.80 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Myall Lakes	57,649	60,292
Port Macquarie	896	897
Upper Hunter	11	11
Myall Lakes Total	58,556	61,200

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Mid-Coast	58,556	61,200
Enrolment Total	58,556	61,200

79

Newcastle

District of Newcastle (123.09 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Newcastle	56,959	59,416
Port Stephens ⁴¹	0	0
Newcastle Total	56,959	59,416

Parts of the 2013 District of Newcastle are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	1,655	1,687
Wallsend	821	817

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Newcastle	53,562	55,912
Port Stephens	3,397	3,504
Enrolment Total	56,959	59,416

⁴¹ Part locality of Fullerton Cove

Newtown

District of Newtown (10.82 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heffron	5,032	5,337
Newtown	49,543	49,836
Summer Hill	3,974	4,332
Newtown Total	58,549	59,505

Parts of the 2013 District of Newtown are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heffron	926	1,042
Sydney	5,869	6,008

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Inner West	29,574	29,896
City of Sydney	28,975	29,609
Enrolment Total	58,549	59,505

81

North Shore

District of North Shore (26.51 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
North Shore	55,380	57,575
North Shore Total	55,380	57,575

Parts of the 2013 District of North Shore are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Willoughby ⁴²	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lane Cove	391	1,321
Mosman	20,869	20,983
North Sydney	34,118	35,269
UNINCORPORATED	2	2
Enrolment Total	55,380	57,575

⁴² Part suburb St Leonards

Northern Tablelands

District of Northern Tablelands (59,412.46 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lismore ⁴³	0	0
Northern Tablelands	54,988	55,764
Tamworth	2,290	2,293
Northern Tablelands Total	57,278	58,057

Parts of the 2013 District of Northern Tablelands are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lismore ⁴⁴	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Armidale Regional	19,203	19,427
Glen Innes Severn Shire	6,531	6,619
Gwydir	3,739	3,728
Inverell	12,725	12,947
Moree Plains	8,235	8,443
Uralla	4,555	4,600
Walcha	2,290	2,293
Enrolment Total	57,278	58,057

⁴³ Part locality of Deepwater

⁴⁴ Part locality of Deepwater

Oatley

District of Oatley (28.00 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lakemba	6,663	6,777
Oatley	50,697	50,949
Oatley Total	57,360	57,726

Parts of the 2013 District of Oatley are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kogarah	3,654	3,597

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	5,653	5,685
Georges River	51,707	52,041
Enrolment Total	57,360	57,726

Orange

District of Orange (16,982.32 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bathurst ⁴⁵	3	3
Orange	56,894	58,952
Orange Total	56,897	58,955

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blayney	3	3
Cabonne	9,925	10,120
Forbes	6,868	6,813
City of Orange	29,617	31,253
Parkes	10,484	10,766
Enrolment Total	56,897	58,955

⁴⁵ Part locality of Forest Reefs

Oxley

District of Oxley (9,325.32 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Oxley	57,268	59,209
Port Macquarie	2,022	2,108
Oxley Total	59,290	61,317

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bellingen	9,994	10,231
Kempsey	22,055	22,726
Nambucca	15,530	16,145
Port Macquarie-Hastings	11,711	12,215
Enrolment Total	59,290	61,317

Parramatta

District of Parramatta (38.48 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Auburn	11,157	13,745
Granville	1,595	2,612
Parramatta	36,941	39,760
Seven Hills	2,831	4,051
Parramatta Total	52,524	60,168

Parts of the 2013 District of Parramatta are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Epping	20,953	22,603

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canada Bay	0	0
City of Parramatta	52,524	60,168
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	52,524	60,168

Penrith

District of Penrith (68.56 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Londonderry	6,875	6,819
Penrith	50,459	51,581
Penrith Total	57,334	58,400

Parts of the 2013 District of Penrith are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blue Mountains	4,599	4,606
Londonderry	1,912	2,516

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Penrith	57,334	58,400
Enrolment Total	57,334	58,400

Pittwater

District of Pittwater (191.38 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Pittwater	56,325	56,912
Pittwater Total	56,325	56,912

Parts of the 2013 District of Pittwater are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Wakehurst ⁴⁶	2	2

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	0	0
Northern Beaches	56,325	56,912
Enrolment Total	56,325	56,912

⁴⁶ Part suburb of Wheeler Heights

Port Macquarie

District of Port Macquarie (1,227.28 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Port Macquarie	57,662	60,705
Port Macquarie Total	57,662	60,705

Parts of the 2013 District of Port Macquarie are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Myall Lakes	896	897
Oxley	2,022	2,108

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
LORD HOWE ISLAND – UNINCORPORATED AREA	309	307
Mid-Coast	4,533	4,738
Port Macquarie-Hastings	52,820	55,660
Enrolment Total	57,662	60,705

Port Stephens

District of Port Stephens (1,292.21 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Port Stephens	56,872	58,950
Upper Hunter	17	17
Port Stephens Total	56,889	58,967

Parts of the 2013 District of Port Stephens are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Newcastle ⁴⁷	0	0
Upper Hunter	20	20

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Dungog	17	17
Mid-Coast	4,883	5,162
Port Stephens	51,989	53,788
Enrolment Total	56,889	58,967

⁴⁷ Part locality of Fullerton Cove

Prospect

District of Prospect (64.94 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Granville	6,845	7,179
Mulgoa48	0	0
Prospect	41,702	42,105
Seven Hills	8,936	9,040
Prospect Total	57,483	58,324

Parts of the 2013 District of Prospect are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blacktown	3,105	3,186
Cabramatta	10,003	9,855
Mount Druitt ⁴⁹	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	15,416	15,404
Cumberland	30,407	31,162
City of Fairfield	11,660	11,758
Enrolment Total	57,483	58,324

⁴⁸ Part suburb of Horsley Park

⁴⁹ Part suburb of Eastern Creek

Riverstone

District of Riverstone (50.18 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Riverstone	51,810	60,259
Riverstone Total	51,810	60,259

Parts of the 2013 District of Riverstone are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Londonderry	1,147	1,701
Winston Hills	10,422	10,293

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	51,810	60,259
Enrolment Total	51,810	60,259

93

Rockdale

District of Rockdale (41.40 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Rockdale	55,047	57,655
Rockdale Total	55,047	57,655

Parts of the 2013 District of Rockdale are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kogarah	1,562	1,574

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bayside	50,914	53,567
Georges River	4,133	4,088
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	55,047	57,655

Ryde

District of Ryde (28.41 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Epping	4,142	4,111
Ryde	54,497	56,481
Ryde Total	58,639	60,592

Parts of the 2013 District of Ryde are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Epping	291	282
Lane Cove	1,525	1,522

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Parramatta	5,499	5,445
City of Ryde	53,140	55,147
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	58,639	60,592

Shellharbour

District of Shellharbour (184.21 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Shellharbour	57,971	60,108
Shellharbour Total	57,971	60,108

Parts of the 2013 District of Shellharbour are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Keira	368	1,010
Wollongong	4,823	4,909

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Shellharbour	38,131	39,077
City of Wollongong	19,840	21,031
Enrolment Total	57,971	60,108

South Coast

District of South Coast (2,802.75 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Kiama ⁵⁰	0	0
South Coast	57,524	60,653
South Coast Total	57,524	60,653

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Shoalhaven	57,524	60,653
Enrolment Total	57,524	60,653

⁵⁰ Part locality of Jerrawangala

Strathfield

District of Strathfield (22.72 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Auburn ⁵¹	0	0
Canterbury	6,136	6,181
Strathfield	50,454	52,046
Strathfield Total	56,590	58,227

Parts of the 2013 District of Strathfield are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Drummoyne	3,496	3,689

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Burwood	20,453	20,639
Canada Bay	682	655
Canterbury-Bankstown	8,930	8,964
Inner West	4,664	4,694
Strathfield	21,861	23,275
Enrolment Total	56,590	58,227

⁵¹ Part suburb of Homebush West

Summer Hill

District of Summer Hill (16.41 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury	3,778	3,695
Summer Hill	53,216	55,171
Summer Hill Total	56,994	58,866

Parts of the 2013 District of Summer Hill are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Newtown	3,974	4,332

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Canterbury-Bankstown	5,820	5,743
Inner West	51,174	53,123
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Enrolment Total	56,994	58,866

Swansea

District of Swansea (196.94 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	2,777	2,772
Swansea	56,603	58,074
Swansea Total	59,380	60,846

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Central Coast	24,158	25,127
City of Lake Macquarie	35,222	35,719
Enrolment Total	59,380	60,846

Sydney

District of Sydney (18.66 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Heffron	1,621	1,682
Newtown	5,869	6,008
Sydney	52,739	54,098
Sydney Total	60,229	61,788

Parts of the 2013 District of Sydney are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Vaucluse	2,557	2,618

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Randwick	0	0
City of Sydney	52,415	53,757
UNINCORPORATED	2	2
Woollahra	7,812	8,029
Enrolment Total	60,229	61,788

Tamworth

District of Tamworth (19,974.20 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Barwon ⁵²	0	0
Tamworth	54,289	56,420
Upper Hunter	4,203	4,241
Tamworth Total	58,492	60,661

Parts of the 2013 District of Tamworth are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Northern Tablelands	2,290	2,293

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Gunnedah	9,034	9,399
Liverpool Plains	5,638	5,676
Tamworth Regional	43,820	45,586
Upper Hunter Shire	0	0
Warrumbungle Shire	0	0
Enrolment Total	58,492	60,661

⁵² Part locality of Tambar Springs

Terrigal

District of Terrigal (128.95 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Terrigal	57,511	58,864
Terrigal Total	57,511	58,864

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Central Coast	57,511	58,864
Enrolment Total	57,511	58,864

The Entrance

District of The Entrance (126.94 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
The Entrance	56,026	57,793
Wyong	2,342	2,413
The Entrance Total	58,368	60,206

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Central Coast	58,368	60,206
Enrolment Total	58,368	60,206

Tweed

District of Tweed (512.34 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Tweed	57,412	59,202
Tweed Total	57,412	59,202

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Tweed	57,412	59,202
Enrolment Total	57,412	59,202

Upper Hunter

District of Upper Hunter (22,958.96 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Cessnock	2,797	2,874
Maitland	6,357	6,536
Port Stephens	20	20
Upper Hunter	50,520	52,298
Upper Hunter Total	59,694	61,728

Parts of the 2013 District of Upper Hunter are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Bathurst	251	253
Dubbo	664	668
Myall Lakes	11	11
Port Stephens	17	17
Tamworth	4,203	4,241

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Cessnock	1,986	2,044
Dungog	7,128	7,319
City of Maitland	6,357	6,536
Mid-Coast	6,097	6,303
Muswellbrook	11,504	12,020
Port Stephens	20	20
Singleton	16,502	17,001
Upper Hunter Shire	10,100	10,485
Enrolment Total	59,694	61,728

Vaucluse

District of Vaucluse (24.42 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Sydney	2,557	2,618
Vaucluse	56,046	57,445
Vaucluse Total	58,603	60,063

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
Waverley	26,138	26,796
Woollahra	32,465	33,267
Enrolment Total	58,603	60,063

Wagga Wagga

District of Wagga Wagga (12,135.83 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Albury ⁵³	0	0
Wagga Wagga	55,533	57,343
Wagga Wagga Total	55,533	57,343

Parts of the 2013 District of Wagga Wagga are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Albury ⁵⁴	1	1
Cootamundra ⁵⁵	0	0

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Lockhart	2,351	2,365
Snowy Valleys	8,028	8,165
City of Wagga Wagga	45,154	46,813
Enrolment Total	55,533	57,343

53 Part locality of Buddong

54 Part locality of Laurel Hill

⁵⁵ Part locality of Darbalara

Wahroonga

District of Wahroonga (50.28 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	15,513	15,638
Ku-ring-gai	43,008	43,479
Wahroonga Total	58,521	59,117

Parts of the 2013 District of Ku-ring-gai are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Davidson	12,288	12,120

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Hornsby	25,847	25,937
Ku-ring-gai	32,674	33,180
Enrolment Total	58,521	59,117

Wakehurst

District of Wakehurst (58.45 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Davidson	5,445	5,416
Pittwater ⁵⁶	2	2
Wakehurst	52,297	52,529
Wakehurst Total	57,744	57,947

Parts of the 2013 District of Wakehurst are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Manly	3,930	4,048

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Northern Beaches	57,744	57,947
Enrolment Total	57,744	57,947

⁵⁶ Part suburb of Wheeler Heights

Wallsend

District of Wallsend (115.11 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	757	757
Maitland ⁵⁷	0	0
Newcastle	821	817
Wallsend	56,392	57,872
Wallsend Total	57,970	59,446

Parts of the 2013 District of Wallsend are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Charlestown	3,117	3,161

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Lake Macquarie	8,208	8,293
City of Maitland	0	0
City of Newcastle	49,762	51,153
Enrolment Total	57,970	59,446

⁵⁷ Part locality of Thornton

Willoughby

District of Willoughby (28.37 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Davidson	1,931	1,925
Lane Cove	3,119	3,163
North Shore ⁵⁸	0	0
Willoughby	54,933	55,511
Willoughby Total	59,983	60,599

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
North Sydney	13,738	14,082
UNINCORPORATED	0	0
City of Willoughby	46,245	46,517
Enrolment Total	59,983	60,599

58 Part suburb St Leonards

Winston Hills

District of Winston Hills (35.35 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Blacktown	8,904	9,157
Riverstone	10,422	10,293
Seven Hills	42,023	42,039
Winston Hills Total	61,349	61,489

Parts of the 2013 District of Seven Hills are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Parramatta	2,831	4,051
Prospect	8,936	9,040

Includes partially or wholly the following Local Government Areas:

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Blacktown	30,758	30,731
City of Parramatta	29,999	30,158
The Hills Shire	592	600
Enrolment Total	61,349	61,489

113

Wollondilly

District of Wollondilly (3,200.63 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Wollondilly	56,014	58,449
Wollondilly Total	56,014	58,449

Parts of the 2013 District of Wollondilly are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Campbelltown	2,051	2,420

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Penrith	0	0
Wingecarribee	22,616	23,578
Wollondilly	33,398	34,871
Enrolment Total	56,014	58,449

Wollongong

District of Wollongong (66.91 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Keira	2,504	2,544
Shellharbour	4,823	4,909
Wollongong	49,328	50,924
Wollongong Total	56,655	58,377

Parts of the 2013 District of Wollongong are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Keira	11,365	11,350

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
City of Wollongong	56,655	58,377
Enrolment Total	56,655	58,377

Wyong

District of Wyong (592.37 sq km)

How constituted

From the 2013 District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Wyong	55,258	58,652
Wyong Total	55,258	58,652

Parts of the 2013 District of Wyong are transferred as follows to the District of:

	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Gosford	313	314
The Entrance	2,342	2,413

Local Government Area	Current Enrolment 2020	Projected Enrolment 2023
Central Coast	55,258	58,652
Enrolment Total	55,258	58,652